The Ancient Kingdoms of Fermoy and Glanworth.
A large tract of country lying roughly between the Galtee and Nagle mountains, and extending eastwards to the counties of Waterford and Tipperary, and westwards as far as the town of Mallow, was anciently known as Feara Muighe Feine. This name is variously interpreted as ‘The Men of the Grassy Plain,’ ‘The Plain of the Fenian Men,’ ‘The Men of the Sacred Plain,’ etc. It was generally shortened to Feara Muighe. In Norman times the district was known as Armoy, Urmagh, and by kindred titles, and Spenser in his poem on ‘Mutability,’ calls it Armilla.

Much of the early history of Feara Muighe Feine is mixed up with fable and legend. A story is told that about the middle of the third century this whole region was bestowed by a Munster King upon a famous druid named Magh Ruith as a reward for saving that king’s army and for defeating, by his magic powers, the invading forces of the High King Cormac Mac Airt.

Though the fantastic stories associated with the name of Magh Ruith and the fabulous powers attributed to him are strongly suggestive of the mythological, he is, nevertheless, believed to have been a historical personage and the ancestor of a race of kings who for hundreds of years ruled over Feara Muighe. Of these the most remarkable was Cuanna whose death is recorded as having taken place in 640 A.D. He was famous all through Ireland for his lavish hospitality. His table was always ready and every person without exception was welcome beneath his roof. He had a beautiful daughter named Flannaid whose paralysed right arm St. Carthage of Lismore miraculously cured. She was afterwards sought in marriage by many princes but she refused them all, became under St. Carthage’s tutelage a nun, and founded convents or cells on the banks of the Blackwater, near where the town of Fermoy now stands, on land given her by her father.

A family of the O’Duggan’s, who claimed descent from Magh Ruith, long held sovereign sway over Feara Muighe, and in 1014 Gavennach, son of Duggan, prince of Feara Muighe, led a contingent to Clontarf to fight in Brian’s army.

But long before this period the O’Duggans had lost their position of pre-eminence in Feara Muighe and had been superseded by the O’Keeffe’s, a branch of the Royal Family of Cashel. When in 954 A.D., Callaghan, the Munster king, had been defeated and captured by the Danes, Donogh O’Keeffe, King of Fermoy, as he was styled, with other southern chieftains pursued the foreigners northwards into Ulster, burned Armagh, and coming up with their King at Dundalk, brought him victoriously home.
The locality in which the present town of Glanworth is situated was in those far off days a place of great importance. It is frequently alluded to in old Irish writings, in which it is variously called Glendamhain, Glendamnach, Gleannamhain, Gleannamhair, etc. Here for centuries was the royal seat and the capital of ancient Feara Muighe, and it was here that Callaghan, above alluded to, was elected King of Cashel in 934 A.D.

In the early years of the Norman invasion Feara Muighe was wrested from the O’Keeffes and parcelled out amongst the new-comers. The heart of the principality, including Glendamnach, was given to a knight named Fleming. Overlooking the Funcheon River, on the site of the former chieftain’s castle this adventurer built a fortress whose stately ruins are still to be seen. By his daughter’s marriage Fleming’s portion of Feara Muighe passed to the Roches who subsequently became known as ‘Lords of Fermoy.’ Castletownroche was their chief seat and in Bridgetown Abbey near-by many great members of the family are buried. The Roches lost much of their estates by their loyalty to the cause of the unfortunate Charles II.
The eastern portion of O’Keeffe’s territory was given to the Cantons or Condons who retained possession of it for over four hundred years. At the ‘Reformation’ Condons kept the old faith and in the rebellion of 1641 espoused the Catholic cause. In 1642 all Condon’s lands were ravaged and his chief castle, Cloghlea, taken:-

‘It fell in its defiance proudly scorning

The stern Republic’s slaughterous array.’

Condon’s lands were, on the suppression of the rebellion, divided between two Cromwellians, one of whom came from a place called Kilworth in Leicestershire, and is said by some to have given the name of his native district to the countryside in which his new possessions were situated. Dr. Joyce, however, traces the name, Kilworth, to the Irish words ‘Cill Uird,’–The Church of the (Ecclesiastical) Order.
The north-eastern portion of Feara Muighe passed into the possession of a branch of the Geraldines. The head of this family was afterwards known as ‘The White Knight.’ In the latter half of the 16th century much of the ‘White Knight’s’ country, as it was called, was transferred by marriage to the first Earl of Kingston. In the ‘Land War’ of the eighties the Kingston estate was a storm centre. At a great public meeting in Mitchelstown in connection with agrarian trouble there, three men, Lonergan, Shinnick and Casey were shot dead by the Crown forces. It was this tragedy that gave rise to the famous slogan of Land League days: ‘Remember Mitchelstown.’
A nephew of Robert Fitzstephen named De Barri, was given, with other portions of County Cork, the north-west of Fear Muighe, a district afterwards immortalised by the author of the ‘Faery Queen.’ The head of the De Barri family became known in the fifteenth century as Viscount Buttevant, and two centuries later as Earl of Barrymore. During the troubled years of Irish history the De Barris’ fell in with ‘the fits o’ the seasons,’ to better advantage than did some of their compatriots who shared in the spoils of ancient Feara Muighe.


The disaffection or doubtful loyalty of Norman lords in Ireland was, as we know, a frequent cause of worry to the governors of the Pale. Under the date 1549, in an English State document there is given a list of ‘English nobles and most worshipful captains degenerate from English laws,’ and among them we find the names of Lord Barre of Buttemunt, Lord Roche of Armoye (Fermoy), Lord Condon of Armeyve (Fermoy), and ‘The White Knight.’

After the intrusion of the English into Feara Muighe, the O’Keeffes moved westward into Duhallow. If we are to credit the words of Angus O’Daly, an Irish poet of the sixteenth century, they had in his time sadly fallen from their former high estate. In a poem called the The Tribes of Ireland, he refers thus (as translated by O’Donovan) to the descendant of those ancient kings:

‘The ragged O’Keeffe he shivers and shakes,

The sad ragamuffin he hasn’t the stuff in

His carcase to battle with argues and aches;

But I spare him, the luckless

Poor devil, the cloakless are always the pluckless.’
O’Daly long traded on the terrors of his pen. In The Tribes of Ireland, however, he overreached himself. The lampoon cost him his life. He was murdered in Tipperary by one of the O’Mahers whose chief had been a subject of his satire.

